IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

LEONARDO FRANQUI,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 04,2380

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPELLANT LEONARDO FRANQUI'S INITIAL BRIEF

Lower Tribunal: The Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, In and For Dade County, Florida

> Mary Catherine Bonner, Esq. Counsel for Mr. Franqui Fl. Bar No. 283398 207 S.W. 12th Court Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33315 (954) 523-6225

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

This is Leonardo Franqui's direct appeal from the denial of his motion for post conviction relief.¹ He had been convicted and sentenced to death for a crime in which he did not fire the fatal bullet and which occurred January 3, 1992. R3-290. That sentence was reversed, he was resentenced to death, and unsuccessfully appealed that sentence. R3-293.

Mr. Franqui filed his Motion to Vacate on April 7, 2003 RI 99, *et seq*. directed to issues relevant to trial and to the second sentencing. The State filed its Response June 9, 2003 SRI, 88 *et seq*. Mr. Franqui filed his evidentiary supplementation on April 03,2003. SRI 80-87.

A *Huff* hearing (*State v. Huff*, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993) was held August 28th 2003. SRII 163 et seq. The Order upon *Huff* Hearing was entered on August 29, 2003. RII-844 et seq.² This Order limited the evidentiary hearing to the following issues.

A. The circumstances surrounding defendant's waiver of his right to

¹ The record will be referenced by "R" followed by the document number if applicable; thence followed by the page number of the reference. The Supplemental Record will be referenced "SR."

² Subsequent to the *Huff* hearing, Mr. Franqui withdrew his claim regarding counsel's failure to advise him of his right to testify. RII190

testify show that the waiver was both involuntary and unknowing.

- B Counsel made no effort to litigate the suppression of Mr. Franqui's statement despite the ample and compelling basis for suppression on these facts.
- C. Counsel failed to present relevant lay and expert witnesses. Two lay witnesses would substantiate Mr. Franqui's request for counsel before his statement; and expert mental health professionals would have presented relevant evidence on the conditions of the interrogation, the mental status of Mr. Franqui, and the interaction of these two factors.
- D. Sentencing counsel failed to litigate before the jury the surrounding factors of the taking of the confession in order to challenge its voluntariness.

After motion practice, discussed below, an evidentiary hearing was

held on August 26, 2004. SRV- 465 et seq. The Parties submitted written closing

legal and factual arguments; Mr. Franqui at SRVI-384 et seq and the State at RVI-

69 Mr. Franqui filed his Reply Brief July 15, 2003 RII1-65 et seq.

The trial court entered its Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Post-conviction Relief Pursuant to Rule 3.851. RIII-290.

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal by virtue of Art. V.§ 3(b)(1), (9) *Fla. Const.*

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

<u>1.</u> TRIAL AND RESENTENCING

Mr. Franqui was charged in four separate Informations. All were assigned to

the same judge, the same Office of the State Attorney and were defended by the same defense lawyer.

The two cases relevant hereto and on which a death sentence was imposed are the "Hialeah" case³ and the "North Miami" case. The statements of Mr. Franqui with regard to three separate arrests were taken on a single day. The police witnesses overlapped as to the questioning on the instant case and the Hialeah case.

A suppression hearing on the Hialeah confession was held which included, *inter alia*, evidence of the confession in the instant case. Physical abuse and coercion were the core issues. The Hialeah Suppression Hearing testimony, with small additions, was adopted in toto in this case. The denial of suppression of the instant confession, with this small exception, was not the subject of new evidence nor of appeal.

In order for this Court to evaluate the lower court's findings with regard to

³ Mr. Franqui's other death penalty post conviction motion was denied and its appeal is before this Court in case no SC05-830 for which a briefing schedule has not as yet been set. This Court's Docket reflects that there is an inability to complete the record. It is respectfully submitted that because the issues of ineffectiveness with regard to the statement were actually litigated in that case, and relied upon by this post conviction judge that a reading of both briefs simultaneously would assist this Court.

whether an evidentiary hearing was necessary on certain allegations, the issues and respective dispositions of Mr. Franqui's prior litigation is presented herein. Mr. Franqui filed a substantive direct appeal of his conviction. That conviction was affirmed but the matter was remanded for resentencing. Mr. Franqui appealed from the second imposition of the death penalty.

2. APPELLATE

<u>1.</u> Florida Supreme Court Case number 84,701–decided at *Franqui v. State*,

699 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1997)

Mr. Franqui raised five issues in his first appeal.⁴ Those issues

and this Court's disposition of those issues are as follows:

I. The trial court's preclusion of the Defendant's exercise of peremptory challenges on two jurors constituted reversible error and violated the Fifth and Sixth Amendments and its failure to accept the race-neutral reasons given by the Defendant was manifestly erroneous.

This Court ruled that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in striking

Mr. Franqui's peremptory challenge. Id. at 1335.

II. The trial court erred in overruling the Defendant's challenge to the State's unjustifiable exclusion of a female juror where the State failed to offer a gender-neutral explanation for its exercise of peremptory challenges against

⁴ Issues as stated in Appellant's Initial Brief. Included in the Order Denying Post Conviction Relief in slightly different language. R3-292.

her, thereby violating the Defendant's Fifth Amendment due process and Sixth Amendment impartial jury rights.

This Court found that the above issue was procedurally barred under *Joiner v. State*, 618 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 1993), because defense counsel failed to properly renew his objection to the female juror before accepting the jury and allowing the jury to be sworn. *Id. at* 1334.

III. The trial court abused its discretion in failing to grant the Defendant's repeated motions for severance based upon the unfair prejudice of the introduction at this joint trial of his non-testifying co-defendants' post-arrest confessions which directly incriminated him, thereby violating the Defendant's confrontation and due process rights guaranteed by the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

This Court found that Mr. Franqui's co-defendant's confession interlocked with Mr. Franqui's confession and was substantially incriminating to Mr. Franqui. Thus, the Court found that the admission of co-defendant Gonzalez' confession was error. *Id. at 1336*. However, with respect to guilt, this Court concluded that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the additional evidence against Mr. Franqui. Thus, Mr. Franqui's convictions were not reversed; however, his sentence was reversed. *Id*.

IV. The trial court erred in failing to grant the Defendant relief from the prosecutors' relentless appeals to the jury's sympathy by their injection of irrelevant and unfairly inflammatory evidence of the victim's personality

and character into this lawsuit, thereby denying the Defendant a fair trial and due process of law guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution.

This Court found that this issue was procedurally barred because trial

counsel failed to properly preserve the issue for review. Id. at 1335.

V. The trial court erred in sentencing the Defendant to death, thereby denying the Defendant due process of law and equal protection while imposing a disproportional, cruel and unusual, punishment under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

This Court declined to address the merits of the above issue because

the sentencing issues were rendered moot by the Court's decision to remand for a

new penalty phase trial. Id.

2. Florida Supreme Court Case number 94,269,-decided at

Franqui v. State, 804 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 2001).

Mr. Franqui raised six issues in this appeal of the reimposition of the

Death Penalty at resentencing. Those issues and the Court's disposition of those issues are as follows:⁵

I. The trial court erred in excusing for cause potential jurors Pereira and Lopez.

⁵ Once again the issues are as originally stated by the Appellant. The issues were included in the Order Denying Post Conviction Relief in slightly different language. R3-293.

This Court found after an examination of the record that the trial court

did not abuse its discretion in excusing either of the jurors for cause. Id., at 1192.

II. The trial court erred in instructing and allowing the jury to be instructed that its recommendation should be death if the aggravators outweigh the mitigators.

This Court agreed with Mr. Franqui on this issue that the trial court's comment that the law required jurors to recommend a death sentence if the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances misstated the law. *Id. at* 1192-1193. However, this Court concluded that Mr. Franqui was not prejudiced by this error. This Court found that the trial court's subsequent comments to the prospective jurors during voir dire were consistent with the standard jury instructions and that the trial court did not repeat the misstatement of law when instructing the jury prior to its deliberations. This Court also held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to give the curative instruction requested by defense counsel during voir dire. *Id.*

III. The trial court erred in overruling defense objections to prosecutorial closing argument which denied Franqui a fair trial.

This Court found that as to a comment made by the prosecution pertaining to Mr. Franqui's use of part of the proceeds from the bank robbery, error was committed. Based on the facts presented at trial, the Court concluded that the State's comment did not constitute an improper attempt to ask the jury to draw a logical inference based upon the evidence. *Id. at* 1195.

This Court did find, however, that the State's comment pertaining to the subsequent robbery of another individual was improper since the State implied that Mr. Franqui and his accomplices would have murdered this person had the police not intervened. This Court concluded that, nonetheless, this comment by itself did not warrant resentencing because it was not so egregious as to taint the validity of the jury's recommendation and require reversal of the entire resentencing proceeding. *Id*.

IV. The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that it could take into consideration the life sentences given to the co-defendants as a mitigating factor.

This Court ruled that this issue was without merit because the trial court gave the standard jury instruction on non-statutory mitigating circumstances, which explained in part that the jury may consider any other circumstance of the offense in mitigation. *Id. at* 1196. This Court also found that the trial court read to the jury a stipulation pertaining to the life sentences given to two of the codefendants prior to closing arguments and that the trial court specifically informed defense counsel that he could argue codefendants' life sentences as a mitigating circumstance to the jury. *Id.*

V. The trial court erred in its sentencing order in failing to find and weigh each mitigating circumstance proposed by the defense.

This Court ruled that the trial court did consider and weigh mitigating circumstances presented by the defense. First, this Court concluded that the sentencing order revealed that the trial court expressly considered in great detail whether Mr. Franqui's family history was a mitigating factor. *Id. at* 1196. Second, this Court found that the trial court also considered Mr. Franqui's newfound maturity and found that Mr. Franqui's self-improvement and faith while in custody was established as a mitigating circumstance and entitled to some weight. Lastly, this Court found that Mr. Franqui did not fire the fatal bullet as a mitigating circumstance. *Id. at* 1196-1197.

VI. The trial court erred in finding that a sentence of death was appropriate on the facts of this case.

This Court first ruled regarding this issue that in its sentencing order, the trial court expressly found that Mr. Franqui was prepared to use lethal force to eliminate any impediment to his robbery plan and did not hesitate to use force during the robbery. *Id. at* 1197. This Court also found that the trial court found three aggravating circumstances in regard to the death sentence and that similar prior case law allowed for death as the appropriate penalty. *Id. at* 1198

3. <u>COURSE OF THE INSTANT POST CONVICTION</u> <u>PROCEEDINGS</u>

Mr. Franqui filed his Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction

and Sentence which raised, in sum, the following issues: RI 99-161.

SYSTEMIC AND TRIAL COURT ERROR

- 1. The procedure for assignment of trial judges in Dade County criminal cases is inherently unfair, particularly as applied to this defendant.
- 2. The circumstances surrounding defendant's waiver of his right to testify show that the waiver was both involuntary and unknowing.
- 3. Circumstances surrounding the purported confession -- chiefly, the length of questioning, officers' non-responsiveness to defendant's requests for counsel and officers' election not to make an audio or visual recording of any portion of the interrogation -- make the defendant's statement unreliable, illegal and inadmissible.
- 4. The Court denied the defendant the right to obtain evidence from a material, relevant witness despite the fact that the evidence was not in any way privileged merely because it was the "custom" not to call Assistant State Attorneys to testify.

5. When the second sentencing court permitted the statement of Mr. Franqui to be admitted into evidence but failed to permit the defense to present evidence on the confession issue, it denied Mr. Franqui due process of law.

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

6. Counsel made no effort to litigate the suppression of Mr. Franqui's statement despite the ample and compelling basis for suppression on these facts.

7. Counsel failed to effectively seek the right of Mr. Franqui to obtain evidence from a material, relevant witness despite the fact that the evidence was not in any way privileged merely because it was the "custom" not to call Assistant State Attorneys to testify.

8. Counsel failed to present relevant lay and expert witnesses. two lay witnesses would substantiate Mr. Franqui's request for counsel *before* his statement; and expert mental health professionals would have presented relevant evidence on the conditions of the interrogation, the mental status of Mr. Franqui, and the interaction of these two factors.

9. Sentencing counsel (second sentencing) failed to litigate his filed suppression motion, apparently because both he and the judge mistakenly assumed that the confession issue had been litigated and lost before the Supreme Court of Florida.

10. Sentencing counsel failed to litigate before the jury the surrounding factors of the taking of the confession in order to challenge its voluntariness.

11. Sentencing counsel failed to raise constitutionally valid attacks on the Constitutionality of the Death Penalty per se and specifically the death penalty scheme in Florida where the sentencing jury merely is an "advisor" to a judge who is the ultimate fact finder and decision maker.

12. Counsel failed to make a motion to dismiss based on patent deficiencies in the indictment.

13. In attempting to exercise a peremptory strike against panel

member Diaz, Counsel's delay in presenting neutral reasons beyond his bare dislike of Diaz resulted in the seating of a juror whose ability to be fair should have been the basis on a sustainable defense peremptory challenge.

14. Counsel failed to preserve patent trial court error in disallowing a defense strike against panel member Andani; when the State challenged the strike, defense counsel specifically declined to be heard.

15. Counsel failed to litigate his request for individual requested voir dire and motion to sequester; despite the fact that the victim was a police officer, counsel made no attempt to show that Miami's notoriously sensational press had created adverse pretrial publicity nor did he make any showing of how the defendant was prejudiced.

16. Counsel failed to preserve patent trial court error in allowing the State to peremptorily challenge panel member Pascual; Pascual, like seated juror Pierre-Louis, expressed initial ambivalence about imposing death on a non-triggerman. Counsel accepted the panel without reserving this meritorious objection.

17. During the penalty phase, counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's serious misstatement of law on closing - "If the aggravation is always stronger, always more powerful in your hearts and minds, the Judge is going to tell you it's your obligation that you should vote to recommend for death."

18. Appellate counsel also failed to raise the meritorious issue of prosecutorial misconduct based on this duty-to-recommend-death comment in his brief -- this omission and defense counsel's failure to preserve the issue of court error were noted by on appeal by the Florida Supreme Court. Appellate counsel's ineffectiveness is mentioned here because the fact that the Court mentioned it proves this issue's merit. But Mr. Franqui's claim for relief based on appellate counsel's deficiencies will be made in a separate and appropriate pleading.

A *Huff* hearing was held. After the *Huff* hearing, the case proceeded on the issues permitted for evidentiary exploration. New discovery from the officers on the circumstances surrounding the taking of the statements were forbidden.⁶ January 9, 2004, the State moved in limine to determine whether the defense proposed expert testimony on the circumstances of coerced confessions was admissible. RII-207. On that same date, the State asked the court to "prevent further witness deposition" of officers by the defense. RII-213. Mr. Franqui responded thereto. RII-216.

That same date again, the State moved to exclude testimony of an expert legal witness, Melvin Black. RII-220 Mr. Franqui responded. RII-225. Ultimately, Mr. Black and Dr. Meissner testified. Mr. Black's conclusions of ineffectiveness were ignored and it was held that Dr. Meissner's expertise on

⁶ The trial court granted hearing on Claim Two (involuntary nature of Defendant's waiver of right to testify (later withdrawn); Claim Six (counsel's failure to litigate motion to suppress Defendant's confession; Claim Eight (counsel's failure to present relevant law and expert witnesses at a hearing on the motion to suppress Defendant's confession; and Claim Ten (Counsel's failure to litigate before the sentencing jury the involuntary nature of Defendant's confession). R3-297.

coerced confessions was not sufficiently readily available at the time of the resentencing.

During the preparation process for the evidentiary hearing, on March 4, 2004, unbeknownst to Mr. Franqui or counsel, the State issued a State Attorney subpoena for Mr. Franqui's trial and sentencing counsel, Mr. Cohen, without notice to the defense. RII 238. Mr. Cohen retained counsel and filed a motion to quash the subpoena. SR-III 276-280; RII 233, 269. The State responded. SR-III 281-286;240. A hearing was held on the Motion to Quash on March 5, 2004. RII- 239(Notice); RII-281 (transcript). Each of these actions was taken without notice to Mr. Franqui or to his post conviction counsel.

Immediately, upon learning of the State Attorney Subpoena, a hearing the fact that a hearing had been held on same, and the actual compliance with to the subpoena, Mr. Franqui filed an Emergency Motion et seq. SR-VI-69-739; 740 The State responded thereto. RIII-262RVI 750 An Emergency hearing was held on August 20, 2004. SRVI 636 *et seq.*

All issues which were raised in the *Huff* hearing and in the original pleadings were renewed at the beginning of the evidentiary hearing. SR-V-465.

An evidentiary hearing was held on August 28, 2003 before the

Honorable Kevin Emas. SR-V-465.⁷ Legal Expert Witness Melvin Black was permitted to be present for the testimony of trial counsel. SR-V-478.

The trial court made clear that it would entertain testimony on trial counsel's failure to litigate the suppression of Mr. Franqui's statement. Counsel's failure to present expert witnesses and lay witnesses and expert health, mental health professionals regarding his mental status and sentencing, counsel's failure to litigate the circumstances surrounding the taking of Mr. Franqui's confession in order to challenge its voluntariness.⁸ SRV-481-482.

Trial Counsel, Eric Cohen, was sworn as the first defense witness. SR-V-483. He recollected his first contact with Mr. Franqui, in 1992, was when he was called to represent Mr. Franqui on another charge, and they had made arrangements to retain Mr. Cohen for that matter. SR-V-484.⁹ Days later, Mr. Cohen read an article in the *Miami Herald* that Mr. Franqui had been charged in the instant case–the death of Officer Bauer of the North Miami Police

⁷ The contents of the pages which are in the Record beginning at SR-V-465 are slightly different from the contents of the pages in the originally prepared transcript

⁸ As noted earlier, the issues of waiver of Mr. Franqui's right to testify had been withdrawn.

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