## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-2380

LEONARDO FRANQUI,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

#

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

 $<sup>^{11}</sup>$  To the extent that Defendant is asserting that his mental state generally was relevant to sentencing, the issue is addressed infra at Issue III.

#### THE JUDICIAL ASSIGNMENT CLAIM SHOULD BE REJECTED.

Defendant next contends that the lower court erred in denying his claim that he was denied due process because all of his pending cases were assigned to a single judge. He appears to assert that the lower court should have ordered an evidentiary hearing to consider evidence of the affect of hearing about all of Defendant's criminal activity on a judge in making a sentencing decision. However, Defendant is entitled to no relief, as he has waived the claim and it was properly denied.

In his brief, Defendant presents no argument concerning how or why the lower court was wrong to find that this claim was procedurally barred, that it had no jurisdiction to consider the issue or that the claim was meritless. Instead, he simply reiterated the argument he presented below. However, this Court has made clear that the "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal." Duest v. State, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990). Thus, this Court has required defendants to present arguments that explain why the lower court erred in its rulings. See Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n.6 (Fla. 1999). Merely referring to the arguments presented below is insufficient to meet the burden of presenting an argument on appeal. Duest, 555 So. 2d at 852. Moreover, the

arguments must be presented in more than a cursory fashion. Bryant v. State, 901 So. 2d 810, 827-28 (Fla. 2005); Cooper v. State, 856 So. 2d 969, 977 n.7 (Fla. 2003); Reeves v. Crosby, 837 So. 2d 396, 398 (Fla. 2003); Lawrence v. State, 831 So. 2d 121, 133 (Fla. 2002). When an issue is not sufficiently briefed, it is considered waived. Bryant, 901 So. 2d at 827-28; Duest, 555 So. 2d at 852. Since Defendant has not presented any argument regarding why the lower court improperly denied this claim, it is waived.

Even if the issue had not been waived, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief, as the lower court properly denied this claim. In Wild v. Dozier, 672 So. 2d 16, 17-18 (Fla. 1996), this Court held that it had exclusive jurisdiction to review administrative orders regarding case assignments. As such, the lower court was correct in holding that it did not have jurisdiction to consider this claim. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

This Court further held in Wild that the appropriate manner to challenge an assignment was to challenge the assignment in the trial court and then seek a writ of prohibition in this Court. Id. at 18. However, a writ of prohibition will not lie once the act that the defendant seeks to prevent the trial judge from doing has been done. English v. McCrary, 348 So. 2d 293

(Fla. 1977). Moreover, a claim that a trial judge should have been recused from trial of a case is procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. *Schwab v. State*, 814 So. 2d 402, 406 (Fla. 2002). As such, the lower court was correct to find this claim procedurally barred and deny it as such.

Moreover, the lower court was correct to find this claim without merit. In *Kruckenberg v. Powell*, 422 So. 2d 994 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), the court addressed the issue of a litigant's power to challenge the assignment of his case to a particular judge:

The assignment and reassignment of specific court cases between or among the judges of a multi-judge court is a matter within the internal government of that court and is directed and controlled by policy adopted by the judges of that court, either directly or by and through their chief judge. If such policy is in writing, it is properly documented by an administrative order or similar directive usually directed to the clerk of the court for ministerial implementation.

Where the court has jurisdiction, it is the court, and not the particular judges thereof, that has jurisdiction over a particular cause, controversy and the parties thereto. Every duly elected or appointed judge of a court has the bare power or authority to exercise all of the jurisdiction of that Administrative orders evidencing internal matters of self-government of the court do not limit the lawful authority of any judge of the court, nor do they bestow rights on litigants. In legal contemplation judges, like litigants, are all equal before the law. Subject only to substantive law relating disqualification of judges, litigants have no right to have, or not have, any particular judge of a court hear their cause and no due process right to be heard

before any assignment or reassignment of a particular case to a particular judge.

The assignment and reassignment of cases in a multi-judge court presents а continuous administrative problem resulting, not only from the disqualification of judges in particular cases and the need to conserve judicial labor by the consolidation of companion and other related cases, but also from many other complex causes, including the rotation of judges between divisions of the court, equalization and control of individual judge case loads, the temporary absence of judges or the temporary inability judges to perform services, termination of the service of individual judges by death, retirement or otherwise, and other good reasons. Contrary petitioner's assertion, in the administration of the internal matters of a court the judges thereof exercise an authority that goes far beyond judicial discretion that judges exercise in the disposition of cases and controversies before the court. A litigant does not have standing to enforce internal court policy, which is a matter of judicial administration and the proper concern of the judges of particular court and of the administrative supervision of the judicial system.

Id. at 995-96; see also Adler v. Seligman of Florida, Inc., 492 So. 2d 730, 731-32 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Allen v. Bridge, 427 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Here, all of Defendant's cases were assigned to Judge Sorondo pursuant to Administrative Orders 94-23 and 79-4. As such, under Kruckenberg, this claim is meritless.

Moreover, in *Rodriguez v. State*, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S39, S46-S47 (Fla. Jan. 19, 2006), this Court stated that "[t]he mere departure from a random assignment procedure is insufficient to overturn a decision; a litigant must establish prejudice from

any improper assignment." Here, the prejudice that Defendant has alleged is that Judge Sorondo was exposed to the facts of the suppression issue and of Defendant's prior felonies. However, this Court has held that the fact that a judge has previously heard the facts is not a basis for disqualification. Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 481 (Fla. 1998). This Court has also held that even harsh comments made in the course of rulings are not grounds for disqualification. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). This is particularly true regarding hearing the facts of Defendant's prior felony convictions, as all of these cases involved crimes relevant to the prior violent felony aggravator. This Court has held that evidence of such crimes is admissible at a penalty phase. Rodriguez, 31 Fla. L. Weekly at S49; Rodriguez v. State, 753 So. 2d 29, 44 (Fla. 2000); Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204 (Fla. 1989); Tompkins v. State, 502 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1986). As such, there was no impropriety in the trial court knowing the facts of Defendant's prior violent felonies at the time of sentencing. Finally, it should be remembered that Judge Sorondo did not enter the sentence Defendant is presently serving. Instead, Defendant's sentence in this case was entered by Judge Robert Scola. Judge Scola did not participate in Defendant's trials in any of the other three cases. Under these circumstances, there was no prejudice. The claim was without merit and properly denied as such. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

### III. THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT RESENTENCING SHOULD BE REJECTED.

Defendant next appears to claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present evidence in support of alleged mental mitigation. However, Defendant is entitled to no relief as Defendant did not raise this claim below and the random allegations presented in other claims were facially insufficient and refuted by the record.

Initially, the State would note that Defendant did not raise a claim that his counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate and present mitigation. Instead, Defendant's motion listed 18 claims, none of which concerned the presentation of mitigation. (PCR. 110-11) In the course of presenting argument about the issues he did raise, Defendant mentioned the trial court's alleged failure to consider Defendant's allegedly low IQ (PCR. 110) He also asserted that mental as mitigation. mitigation was available but not presented at resentencing. (PCR. 134-37) When the State considered these random assertions to be an attempt to raise a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at resentencing for failing to investigate and present mitigation, Defendant filed a reply brief insisting that the State had "missed the point." (PCR. 165) At the Huff hearing, Defendant asserted that the issues he was raising were those contained in the list of issues. (PCR-SR. 178) He made no

allegations of raising any other claims and presented no arguments in support of any other claims. Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that Defendant raised this issue below. Since the issue was not raised below, it is not properly before this Court. *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003); *Doyle v. State*, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). It should be rejected.

Even if the issue had been raised below, it would still have been properly denied. The allegations in Defendant's own motion showed that counsel had an evaluation of Defendant's mental state performed and had presented this information unsuccessfully at the sentencing hearing in the Hialeah case.

(PCR. 134-37) At the *Spencer* hearing on resentencing, Defendant confirmed that a strategic decision had been made not to present this evidence again:

THE COURT: All right. You had indicated the last time you were considering presenting the former testimony of one of the doctors, you and [Defendant] have agreed not to present that?

MR. COHEN: Unfortunately, Judge, the situation is that we have not been able to find a report. But based on our conversations previously, I don't think that there's anything in that report that we would be submitting to the Court.

THE COURT: I just want to make sure there's not a claim later that not finding the report in some way -- MR. COHEN: No.

THE COURT: --prevented you from making an effective presentation or prevents me from making an appropriate sentence. Does the State have a copy of the report?

MR. COHEN: We don't have the report present now but obviously we reviewed the report previously and the doctor did testify at the sentencing hearing of what we refer to as the Hialeah case. So we're well aware of contents and the findings of the doctor. And it's our decision not to present that evidence to the jury and I don't see any reason why that decision would change in presenting any evidence to the Court.

THE COURT: All right. Have you spoken to [Defendant] with about that?

MR. COHEN: We mentioned it briefly the other day. I don't think he has any different feelings about that.

THE COURT: [Defendant], do you agree with Mr. Cohen's decision not to have me consider the testimony or the report of that doctor?
[Defendant:] Yes, your honor.

(RSR. 191-92)(emphasis added). As the record reflects that counsel did investigate and made a strategic decision, with the agreement of Defendant, not to present the evidence, counsel could not be deemed ineffective for failing to present this evidence. Haliburton v. State, 691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997)(quoting Palmes v. Wainwright, 725 F.2d 1511, 1521 (11th Cir. 1984)(quoting Adams v. Wainwright, 709 F.2d 1443, 1445 (11th Cir. 1983))). The claim would have been properly denied had it been raised.

Moreover, Defendant's allegations did not point to any deficiency in the conduct of the investigation or evaluation.

(PCR. 134-37) Instead, he merely asserted that since the original doctor's testimony had been rejected, counsel should have obtained another expert to confirm the original doctor.

Id. However, this Court has recognized that counsel is not ineffective for failing to shop for an expert. Pace v. State, 854 So. 2d 167, 175 (Fla. 2003). This Court has further held that to show that counsel was ineffective with regard to the investigation of a defendant's mental health, evaluation was performed, that the defendant must show that counsel failed to provide the expert with materials that would have changed the expert's opinion. Knight v. State, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S768, S774 (Fla. Nov. 3, 2005); Breedlove v. State, 692 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1997). Moreover, this Court has recognized that there is no such thing as a claim of ineffective assistance of a mental health professional on its own. Walls v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S101, S108 (Fla. Feb. 9, 2006). Since Defendant did not include any allegations to support any of these theories of a claim, the claim would have been properly denied had it been asserted. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998).

## IV. THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT VOIR DIRE WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant next contends that the lower court erred in rejecting his claims regarding voir dire. He appears to assert that his peremptory challenge to Juror Diaz should have been upheld without the need for a nondiscriminatory reason because both he and the juror were Hispanic males. He also appears to contend that counsel was ineffective for failing to proffer a nondiscriminatory reason for his attempt to exercise a peremptory challenge to Juror Andani. However, the lower court properly rejected the issues that were presented to it.

With regard to the assertions regarding Juror Diaz, this matter is not properly before this Court. In the lower court, Defendant did not assert the claim he is presenting to this Court. In his brief, Defendant appears to be claiming that the trial court erred in conducting a Neil inquiry because both he and Juror Diaz were Hispanic males. However, in the lower court, the claim that Defendant raised was that counsel was ineffective for failing to assert a genuine, race-neutral reason for attempting the exercise a peremptory challenge against Juror Diaz more quickly. (PCR. 111, 147-49) Since Defendant did not raise the issue below that he is presently attempting to raise in this Court, the issue is not properly before this Court. Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003); Doyle v.

State, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). It should be rejected.

Even if the claim had been raised below, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. While Defendant chastises the lower court in the heading of the claim for not realizing that this was a claim of ineffective assistance of Defendant then proceeds to assert error in requiring Defendant to provide a race-neutral reason for his challenge to Juror Diaz without even mentioning how counsel was allegedly deficient regarding being required to provide such a reason. As such, it appears that Defendant is claiming that the trial court erred in requiring Defendant to provide a race-neutral reason for the challenge. However, such claims are procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Bottoson v. State, 674 So. 2d 621, 622 & n.1 (Fla. 1996). As such, the lower court would have properly denied this claim as procedurally barred had it been raised below.

Even if the issue was properly before this Court and was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. While Defendant appears to contend that his sharing of a race and gender with Juror Diaz immunized his peremptory challenge from being questioned as discriminatory, the United

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  That chastisement is without merit as a review of the lower court's order clearly shows that it analyzed the claim presented to it as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. (PCR. 307-08)

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